
I. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 

II. ROLL CALL 

A. Invocation 
B. Pledge of Allegiance 
C. Approve Feb 25, 2022, March 08, 2022, and March 18, 2022 Minutes 

III. REQUESTS TO ADDRESS THE BOARD ON AGENDA ITEMS (3 Minutes) 

IV. CONSENT AGENDA

A. Acknowledge Receipt of the March 2022 Tourist Development Tax Collection Report 

B. Acknowledge Receipt of the March Quarterly Financial Report 

V. PRESENTATIONS 
A. Review the FY2021 Financial Audit, Mr. Rich Moreia 

VI. ACTION ITEM 
A. Approve Mexico Beach & PCB FDEP Annual Funding Request Resolutions, Mr. Dan Rowe 

VII. DISCUSSION ITEMS 

A. Public Safety Funding Update, Ms. Charlene Honnen  

B. Workforce Development/Education Initiative, Mr. Dan Rowe 

C. Fun for All Campaign, Ms. Jayna Leach 

D. Special Events Update, Mr. Richard Sanders 

VIII. PRESIDENTS REPORT 

IX. CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 

X. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 

XI. ADJOURNMENT 

AGENDA 
COMBINED BOARD MEETING 

Bay County Tourist Development Council 
Panama City Beach Convention & Visitors Bureau, Inc. 

Panama City Beach 
Tuesday, May 24, 2022                                                      9:00 a.m.                     Council Room, PCB City Hall 



Page 1 of 2

MOTIONS PASSED AT THE SPECIAL CALLED BOARD MEETING, Friday Feb 25, 2022 

Approved Action Item A 
Ms. Pease/Mr. Chester 



Page 2 of 2

SPECIAL CALLED BOARD MEETING 

Panama City Beach Convention & Visitors Bureau, Inc. 

Panama City Beach 

Friday, February 25, 2022                                                          10:30 a.m.                     Panama City Beach Visitor’s Center Conf Rm 

I. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
Chairman Bailey called the meeting to order at 10:30 a.m.  

II. ROLL CALL
Seven members were present with two absent: 
Mr. Patronis & Mr. Griffitts 

A. Invocation 
                      Mr. Wilkes gave the Invocation. 

B. Pledge of Allegiance 
Ms. Pease led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

III. REQUESTS TO ADDRESS THE BOARD ON AGENDA ITEMS (3 Minutes) 
None 

IV. ACTION ITEM 
A. Discuss and consider for approval a sponsorship agreement for the Sports Park and UNwineD, Dan Rowe 

and J Michael Brown 

Mr. Rowe gave a summary of the PCB Sports Park naming rights process and that the park will go forward as the 
Publix Sports Park.  He discussed the people and organizations involved, recognized them, and thanked them for 
all their hard work.  
Also, Mr. J. Michael Brown summarized the work done by all who were involved and highlighted and thanked 
specific people for their hard work. 
Representatives from Publix spoke expressing their excitement for the sponsorship and success of the park.   
The CVB/TDC Board members also spoke expressing their excitement for the Publix Sports Park and thanked all 
parties involved.  

Ms. Pease made the motion; seconded by Mr. Chester.  Motion passed with unanimous vote. 

V. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 
NONE 

VI. ADJOURNMENT 

Respectfully submitted, 
Sharon Cook, Recording Secretary 



TDC/CVB Combined Board Meeting 
Tuesday, May 24, 2022 

Page 1 of 3

MOTIONS PASSED AT THE COMBINED BOARD MEETING, Tuesday, March 08, 2022 

Approved December 2021 & January 2022 Minutes 
Mr. Walsingham/Mr. Casto 

Approved Consent Agenda 
Mr. Phillips/Ms. Pease 



TDC/CVB Combined Board Meeting 
Tuesday, May 24, 2022 

Page 2 of 3

COMBINED BOARD MEETING 
Bay County Tourist Development Council 

Panama City Beach Convention & Visitors Bureau, Inc. 
Panama City Beach 

Tuesday, March 08, 2022                                           9:00 a.m.                      Council Room, PCB City Hall 

I. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
Chairman Bailey called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m.  

II. ROLL CALL
      Eight Members Present with one Absent: 

              Buddy Wilkes 
A. Invocation 

                      Mr. Chester gave the Invocation. 
B. Pledge of Allegiance 

Ms. Pease led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
      C.    Approve December 2021 & January 2022 Minutes 

Mr. Walsingham moved; seconded by Mr. Casto to approve 
  Motion passed with unanimous vote 

III. REQUESTS TO ADDRESS THE BOARD ON AGENDA ITEMS (3 Minutes) 
None 

IV. CONSENT AGENDA 
Mr. Rowe read the Consent Agenda into the record.   
        A.    Acknowledge the receipt of the January 2022 Tourist Development Tax Collections Report  
Mr. Phillips moved; seconded by Ms. Pease to approve the Consent Agenda. 
Motion passed with unanimous vote. 

V. PRESENTATIONS 

A.  4th Quarter Visitor Profile report, Mr. Berkeley Young  

Mr. Young reviewed the 4th quarter visitor profile as well as the year end data.  He reviewed the data sources and 

how that data collected is used in the visitor reports.  He discussed the effect the sports park has had on first time 

visitors to the destination and that return travel is on the visitor surveys.  He also said that the visitor satisfaction 

level remained high for Fall 2021, even with staff shortages in the area.  Also discussed, the effect of the pandemic, 

people still working from home traveling, gas prices, and the performance of other panhandle destinations. 

VI. DISCUSSION ITEMS 

A.   Sports Center Update, Mr. Dan Rowe  

Mr. Rowe stated that the indoor sports center is proceeding.  He said that an RFQ is in process for an architecture 

firm to assist in the blue skies design and function.  The final approval of that company will be done by the CVB at a 

future meeting.  The naming rights and other sponsorship price points is being addressed with the assistance of 

sports park sponsorship specialist company, Integrity Nine, as well as our current sports park management 

company, SFM.   

He introduced Mr. Higgins, the new General Manager of the Publix Sports Park.   



TDC/CVB Combined Board Meeting 
Tuesday, May 24, 2022 

Page 3 of 3

He answered questions from the board regarding the type of architect to be needed for all uses of the indoor 

center.  He stated that the RFQ is written so that only qualified companies who have the right experience will 

qualify.  He also said that all of the gray sky uses will also be addressed as a requirement in the RFQ.  

Also discussed was the uniqueness of this facility operating for sports, meetings, and an emergency operations 

center.  

Mr. Sale reviewed the funding sources requirements for tracking from design through construction, ie FEMA, will 

be included in all aspects of this project.  

Mr. Rowe stated it could be two years for this to be completed. He stated that there is space to add on to the 

building in the future for expansion.   

Mr. Sale stated this will be a county project during construction.  

Mr. Rowe said that this facility will be able to be used by the school and will allow the Walsingham Academy to 

expand to a K-8 school in the future. 

VII. PRESIDENTS REPORT 
Mr. Rowe recognized Mr. Richard Sanders as being given an award by the PCB Chamber of Commerce.  The award 
was the Pioneer Award, for him building sports tourism in PCB and the amazing effect of that for the local 
economy.  
He reviewed the landscaping project as well as the sign and gateway to the Sports Park and the beach 
renourishment project. He stated that he is working with the county regarding vehicle beach access points.   
He also said that he would bring back to the board a proposal to change the sand borrow areas for renourishment 
projects.  
Mr. Rowe stated that Mojo sportswear lawsuit has been settled.    
He also announced that UnWineD is upcoming and is sponsored by Southern Living Magazine and Publix.   
Mr. Phillips asked if the CVB was involved with Thunder Beach concerts, other than the usual sponsorship.  Mr. 
Rowe stated that the CVB marketing team has been engaged with the event right holders in terms of their 
messaging and how they are positioning things.  He said we were not involved in underwriting those concerts or 
paying for those concerts, as we (the CVB) has the standard sponsorship in place.  The CVB involvement has not 
changed.   

VIII. CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 
Mr. Bailey congratulated Mr. Sanders and Larry Thompson for their awards from the Chamber.  He also recognized 
the tremendous effort of first responders during the historic fires being worked. Mr. Griffitts give an update 
regarding those fires.  The Board had a discussion of the efforts to contain these fires. Mr. Bailey also thanked the 
PCB police chief for their efforts during spring break.   
Mr. Rowe added that the upcoming week was the start of College Club Baseball, which is project that Mr. Sanders 
has been working on for 10 years.  This tournament was in Tampa, but thanks to Mr. Sanders, is now coming to 
PCB.  

IX. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 
NONE 

X. ADJOURNMENT 

Respectfully submitted, 
Sharon Cook, Recording Secretary 



Page 1 of 2

MOTIONS PASSED AT THE SPECIAL CALLED BOARD MEETING, Friday March 18, 2022 

Approved Action Item A 
Mr. Walsingham/Ms. Pease 



Page 2 of 2

SPECIAL CALLED BOARD MEETING 

Panama City Beach Convention & Visitors Bureau, Inc. 

Panama City Beach 

Friday, March 18, 2022                                                     08:45 a.m.                     Panama City Beach Visitor’s Center Conf Rm 

I. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
Chairman Bailey called the meeting to order at 8:45 a.m.  

II. ROLL CALL
Eight members were present with the follow one absent: 

        Mr. Patronis 
A. Invocation 

                      Mr. Wilkes gave the Invocation. 
B. Pledge of Allegiance 

Ms. Pease led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

III. REQUESTS TO ADDRESS THE BOARD ON AGENDA ITEMS (3 Minutes) 
None 

IV. ACTION ITEM 
A.  Discuss and consider for approval entering into an agreement with Sports Facilities Companies to serve a 
Lessee Representative for the Panama City Beach Sports & Events Center, Mr. Dan Rowe 

Mr. Rowe gave a summary of the PCB Sports & Events Center RFQ process and the results.  He also discussed the 
possible uses for the facility and how the Sports Facilities Companies met the need stated in the RFQ and asked 
for the Board to approve them as the Lessee Representative to serve on a time-involved basis at rates and terms 
negotiated by the President and Chairman not exceeding the rates furnished the board today, attached, with the 
understanding that either side may quit at any time. 

Mr. Walsingham made the motion; seconded by Ms. Pease.  Motion passed with unanimous vote. 

V. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 
NONE 

VI. ADJOURNMENT 

Respectfully submitted, 
Sharon Cook, Recording Secretary 



 

 

 
 

 Tourist Development Tax,  Bay County, Florida 
 

 
Bay County Tourist Development Tax, Post Office Box 1230,  Panama City, Florida  32402 

Express Delivery:  225 McKenzie Ave, Panama City, Florida  32401 
     Phone: (850) 747-5226      Fax: (850) 747-5212      

 Visit us at:  https://TDC.BayCoClerk.com/TouristTax/   Email:  TDC@BayCoClerk.com 

 

 



 

 

 
 

 Tourist Development Tax,  Bay County, Florida 
 

 
Bay County Tourist Development Tax, Post Office Box 1230,  Panama City, Florida  32402 

Express Delivery:  225 McKenzie Ave, Panama City, Florida  32401 
     Phone: (850) 747-5226      Fax: (850) 747-5212      

 Visit us at:  https://TDC.BayCoClerk.com/TouristTax/   Email:  TDC@BayCoClerk.com 

 

 



 

 

 
 

 Tourist Development Tax,  Bay County, Florida 
 

 
Bay County Tourist Development Tax, Post Office Box 1230,  Panama City, Florida  32402 

Express Delivery:  225 McKenzie Ave, Panama City, Florida  32401 
     Phone: (850) 747-5226      Fax: (850) 747-5212      

 Visit us at:  https://TDC.BayCoClerk.com/TouristTax/   Email:  TDC@BayCoClerk.com 

 

 































 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Panama City Beach 
Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc.  
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

September 30, 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Table of Contents 

 

 
 
INTRODUCTORY SECTION 
Table of Contents 
 
FINANCIAL SECTION 
Independent Auditors’ Report………………………………………………………………………………………………………….  1 
 
Basic Financial Statements 
   Fund Financial Statements 
   Statement of Net Position…………………………………………………………………………………………………………..  4 
   Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position………………………………………………….  5 
   Statement of Cash Flows…………………………………………………………………………………………………………….  7 
 

Notes to Financial Statements……………………………………………………………………………………………………….  9 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
Schedules of Other Postemployment Benefits………………………………………………………………………………  20 

 
REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL AND COMPLIANCE MATTERS 
Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements 
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards ....................................................... 21 

 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………  23 
 
 



 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 
 

Board of Directors 
Panama City Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. 
Panama City Beach, Florida 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business‐type activities of Panama City 
Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. (a nonprofit organization), a component unit of Bay County, 
Florida, as of and for the year ended September 30, 2021, and the related notes to financial statements, 
which  collectively  comprise  the  Panama  City  Beach  Convention  and Visitor  Bureau’s  basic  financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted  in  the United States of America; this 
includes  the  design,  implementation,  and  maintenance  of  internal  control  relevant  to  the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our  responsibility  is  to express an opinion on  these  financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of  America  and  the  standards  applicable  to  financial  audits  contained  in  Government  Auditing 
Standards, issues by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement. 

An  audit  involves  performing  procedures  to  obtain  audit  evidence  about  the  amounts  and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due  to  fraud  or  error.  In making  those  risk  assessments,  the  auditors  consider  internal  control 
relevant  to  the entity’s preparation and  fair presentation of  the  financial  statements  in order  to 
design  audit  procedures  that  are  appropriate  in  the  circumstances,  but  not  for  the  purpose  of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express 
no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and  the  reasonableness  of  significant  accounting  estimates  made  by  management,  as  well  as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe  that  the audit evidence we have obtained  is  sufficient and appropriate  to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 



 

‐ 2 ‐ 
 

 

 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion,  the  financial statements referred  to above present  fairly,  in all material respects, the 
financial position of the business‐type activities of Panama City Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau, 
Inc. as of September 30, 2021, and the changes in its financial position and its cash flows for the year 
then  ended  in  accordance  with  accounting  principles  generally  accepted  in  the  United  States  of 
America. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the schedules 
of other postemployment benefits plan on pages 21 and 22 are presented to supplement the basic 
financial  statements.   Such  information, although not a part of  the basic  financial  statements,  is 
required by the Government Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part 
of  financial  reporting  for  placing  the  basic  financial  statements  in  an  appropriate  operational, 
economic,  or  historical  context.   We  have  applied  certain  limited  procedures  to  the  required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the  information  for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries,  the  financial  statements,  and  other  knowledge  we  obtained  during  our  audit  of  the 
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the  information 
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or 
provide any assurance. 
 
Management has omitted the management’s discussion and analysis  information that accounting 
principles  generally  accepted  in  the  United  States  of  America  require  to  be  presented  to 
supplement  the basic  financial  statements. Such missing  information, although not a part of  the 
basic  financial  statements,  is  required  by  the  Governmental  Accounting  Standards  Board,  who 
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in 
an  appropriate  operational,  economic,  or  historical  context.  Our  opinion  on  the  basic  financial 
statements is not affected by this missing information. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also  issued our report dated March 28, 
2022, on our consideration of Panama City Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc.’s internal control 
over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of  that  report  is  solely  to describe  the 
scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that 
testing,  and  not  to provide  an opinion on  the  effectiveness of  Panama City Beach Convention  and 
Visitors Bureau, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 



 

‐ 3 ‐ 

That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering  Panama  City  Beach  Convention  and  Visitors  Bureau,  Inc.’s  internal  control  over  financial 
reporting and compliance. 
 
 

 
Certified Public Accountants 
Panama City Beach, Florida 
March 28, 2022
 
 
 
 



Panama City Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. 
Statement of Net Position 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
‐ 4 ‐ 

 

Assets

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4,746,514$              

Accounts receivable, net 172,275

Food inventory 10,748
Due from Bay County 1,503,138

Prepaids 347,536

Total current assets 6,780,211                

Capital assets
Equipment 179,502

Less accumulated depreciation (53,572)

Total capital assets, net 125,930                    

Total assets 6,906,141                

Deferred outflows of resources

Deferred outflows related to other postemployment benefits 4,031

Total deferred outflows of resources 4,031                        

Liabilities

Current liabilities

  Accounts payable 1,625,549
  Sales tax payable 2,829

  Accrued liabilities 283,393

  Unearned revenue 503,738

Total current liabilities 2,415,509                

Noncurrent liabilities

 Working capital advance 250,000

 Other postemployment benefits liability 105,790

Total noncurrent liabilities 355,790                    

Total liabilities 2,771,299                

Deferred inflows of resources

Deferred inflows related to other postemployment benefits 136,525

Total deferred inflows of resources 136,525                    

Net position

   Net investment in capital assets 125,930                    
   Unrestricted 3,876,417                

Total net position 4,002,347$              

September 30, 2021                                                Business‐type Activities ‐ Enterprise Funds



Panama City Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
‐ 5 ‐ 

 

Operating Revenues

Bay County TDC contract 11,391,672$            

Bay County TDC contract ‐ Sports Park 1,777,348                

Co‐op income 28,178

Florida Sports Foundation grant 98,241

Special events 143,952

Miscellaneous 347,683

Sponsorship income 110,405

Total operating revenues 13,897,479              

Operating Expenses

Accounting 29,136

Advertising 6,522,896

Automobile 6,000

Contract labor 120,000

Depreciation 17,335

Dues and subscriptions 129,645

Employee benefits 257,488

Facilities rental 47,847

Facility contributions 29,125

Familiarization 44,228

Film commission 45,000

Insurance 7,926

Legal and professional 62,097

Miscellaneous 1,967

Office 11,101

Payroll taxes 79,165

Postage 73,159

Printing 99,668

Public relations 985,561

Repairs and maintenance 32,539

Salaries 1,383,068

Seminars 25,811

Special events 313,676

Sponsorships 444,850

(Continued)

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021                        Business‐type Activities ‐ Enterprise Funds

 
 
 
 



Panama City Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position (Continued) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
‐ 6 ‐ 

 

Operating Expenses (Continued)

Sports park management 1,502,412$              

Sports park operations 541,294                    

Supplies and facility improvements 12,221
Trade shows 142,212

Training 1,266

Travel 23,844

Uniforms 253
Utilities 2,940

Total operating expenses 12,995,730              

Operating income 901,749                    

Nonoperating Revenues

Gain on sale of stock 1,068

Interest 8,050                        

Total nonoperating revenues 9,118                        

Change in net position 910,867                    

Net position ‐ beginning of year  3,091,480                

Net position ‐ end of year 4,002,347$              

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021                         Business‐type Activities ‐ Enterprise Funds

 
 



Panama City Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. 
Statement of Cash Flows 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
‐ 7 ‐ 

 

Operating Activities

Cash received from intergovernmental revenue 12,931,013$            

Cash received from sales and services 149,763                    
Cash received from grants 98,241                      

Cash received from miscellaneous operating activities 347,683                    

Cash paid to suppliers for goods and services (9,777,940)               
Cash paid to employees for services (1,605,308)               

Net cash provided by operating activities 2,143,452                

Capital and Related  Financing
Activities
Transfer of sports park construction in progress to Bay County 12,520                      

Purchases of capital assets (39,501)                     

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (26,981)                     

Investing Activities

Proceeds from sale of stock 8,062
Interest income 8,050                        

Net cash provided by investing activities 16,112                      

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 2,132,583                

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 2,613,931                

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 4,746,514$              

(Continued)

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021                          Business‐type Activities ‐ Enterprise Funds

 
 



Panama City Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. 
Statement of Cash Flows (Continued) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
‐ 8 ‐ 

 

Reconciliation of Operating Income
to Net Cash Provided by Operating 
Activities

Operating income 901,749$                 

Adjustments to reconcile operating 
income to net cash provided 
by operating activities
Depreciation 17,335                      

(Increase) decrease in assets
Accounts receivable, net (131,538)                  

Food inventory 1,957                        
Due from Bay County 18,812                      
Prepaids 606,059                    

Increase  in deferred outflows (721)                          
Increase (decrease) in liabilities
Accounts payable 1,033,005                

Sales tax payable (3,191)                       
Accrued liabilities (36,987)                     
Unearned revenue (256,819)                  

Other postemployment benefits liability 9,184                        
Decrease  in deferred inflows (15,393)                     

Total adjustments 1,241,703                

Net cash provided by operating activities 2,143,452$              

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021                             Business‐type Activities ‐ Enterprise Funds



Panama City Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

‐ 9 ‐ 

 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Panama City Beach Convention  and Visitors Bureau,  Inc.  (Bureau)  is  a  not‐for‐profit  corporation 
organized under Chapter 617 of the Florida Statutes whose purpose  is to provide support  for the 
Bay  County  Tourist  Development  Bureau,  the  Board  of  County  Commissioners  of  Bay  County, 
Florida,  and where  not  in  conflict with  those  two,  the  City  of  Panama  City  Beach,  Florida.  The 
Bureau  is designed to (1) provide support to advance and promote tourism; (2) finance and effect 
beach  improvement, maintenance,  renourishment  and  restoration;  and  (3)  serve  as,  operate  or 
fund a  convention and meetings bureau  to promote  the greater Panama City Beaches area. The 
Bureau  is primarily  funded  from  the  tourist development  taxes collected within  the Panama City 
Beach Tourist Development Tax District  through a contract with  the Bay County Board of County 
Commissioners. 
 
Reporting Entity 
 
For financial reporting purposes, the Bureau is considered a component unit of Bay County, Florida. The 
Bureau’s  financial  statements have been  included  in Bay County,  Florida’s  financial  statements as a 
discretely presented component unit. Discretely presented component units are reported in a separate 
column in Bay County, Florida’s financial statements to emphasize that the Bureau is a legally separate 
entity. The accounting policies of the Bureau conform to generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP)  as  applied  to  governmental  units.  The more  significant  accounting  policies  used  by  the 
Bureau are described below. 
 
Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 
 
The  accounting  and  financial  reporting  treatment  is determined by  the  applicable measurement 
focus and basis of accounting. Measurement focus indicates the type of resources being measured 
such  as  current  financial  resources or  economic  resources.  The basis of  accounting  indicates  the 
timing of transactions or events for recognition in the financial statements.  
 
The Bureau’s fund are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual 
basis of accounting.  
 
Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
The Bureau’s  cash and  cash equivalents are  considered  to be  cash on hand, demand deposits, and 
short‐term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of 
acquisition.  



Panama City Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

‐ 10 ‐ 

 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position (Continued) 
 
Investments 
 
Investments for the Bureau are reported at fair value (generally based on quoted market prices). 
 
Receivables and payables 
 
Accounts Receivables – An amount for unbilled revenue is recorded for services rendered, but not 
yet billed as of the end of the fiscal year. The receivable is derived from fund requests submitted to 
the County and not yet received as of September 30, 2021. 
 
Allowance for doubtful accounts –The Bureau provides for doubtful accounts based on experience 
and analysis of  individual accounts. When the collectability of a receivable becomes questionable, 
an allowance  for doubtful accounts  is established. When  specific accounts are determined  to be 
uncollectible,  they  are written off by  charging  the  allowance  and  crediting  the  receivable. As of 
September 30, 2021,  there was no allowance  for doubtful accounts as management considers all 
receivables to be collectible. 
 
Unearned  revenue  –  Unearned  revenue  recorded  on  the  balance  sheet  represents  amounts 
received before eligibility requirements are met. 
 
Prepaids 
 
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded 
as  prepaids.  The  cost of prepaids  is  recorded  as  an  expense when  consumed  rather  than when 
purchased. 
 
Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets are defined by the Bureau as assets with initial, individual costs of more than $5,000 and 
estimated useful  lives  in excess of one year. As  the Bureau constructs or acquires additional capital 
assets each period,  they are capitalized and  reported at historical cost. The  reported value excludes 
normal maintenance and repairs which are essentially amounts spent in relation to capital assets that 
do not  increase  the  capacity or efficiency of  the  item or  increase  its estimated useful  life. Donated 
capital assets are recorded at their estimated acquisition value at the date of donation.  
 
Construction  in progress  is not depreciated. The equipment of  the Bureau  is depreciated using  the 
straight line method generally over their estimated useful lives of 10 years. 
 



Panama City Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

‐ 11 ‐ 

 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position (Continued) 
 
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
 

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred  outflows  of  resources.  This  separate  financial  statement  element,  deferred  outflows  of 
resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be 
recognized as an outflow of resources (expense) until then. The Bureau has one item that qualifies for 
reporting in this category, the deferred outflow of resources related to other postemployment benefits. 
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, 
represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized 
as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The Bureau has one item that qualifies for reporting 
in this category, the deferred inflow of resources related to other postemployment benefits. 
 
Compensated Absences  
 
The Bureau’s policy permits employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation benefits, which are 
eligible for payment upon separation from government service. The liability for such leave is reported 
as  incurred  in  the  government‐wide  and  proprietary  fund  financial  statements. A  liability  for  those 
amounts is recorded in the governmental funds only if the liability has matured as a result of employee 
resignations or  retirements.  The  liability  for  compensated  absences  includes  salary‐related benefits, 
where applicable. Accumulated sick leave lapses when employees leave the employ of the Bureau and, 
accordingly upon separation from service, no monetary obligation exists. 
 
Other Post‐Employment Benefits (OPEB) Liability 
 
For purposes of measuring  the net OPEB  liability, deferred outflows/inflows of  resources  related  to 
OPEB, and OPEB expense,  information about  the  fiduciary net position and additions  to/deductions 
from fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the plan. 
For  this  purpose,  benefit  payments  are  recognized when  due  and  payable  in  accordance with  the 
benefit terms.   There are no  investments as this  is a pay‐as‐you‐go plan and all cash  is held  in a cash 
account. 
 
Categories and Classification of Fund Equity 
 
Net position flow assumption – Sometimes the Bureau will fund outlays for a particular purpose from 
both  restricted  (e.g.,  restricted  bond  or  grant  proceeds)  and  unrestricted  resources.  In  order  to 
calculate  the  amounts  to  report  as  restricted  –  net  position  and  unrestricted  –  net  position  in  the 
financial statements, a flow assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are  
 
 



Panama City Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

‐ 12 ‐ 

 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position (Continued) 
 
considered  to be applied.  It  is  the Bureau’s policy to consider restricted – net position to have been 
depleted before unrestricted – net position is applied. 
 
Revenues and Expenses  
 
Proprietary fund’s operating and nonoperating revenues and expenses – Proprietary funds distinguish 
operating  revenues  and  expenses  from  nonoperating  items.  Operating  revenues  and  expenses 
generally  result  from providing  services  in  connection with  the proprietary  fund’s principal ongoing 
operations. The principal operating revenues are billings related to the Bay County contract. Operating 
expenses  include the cost of services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All 
revenues  and  expenses  not  meeting  this  definition  are  reported  as  nonoperating  revenues  and 
expenses. 
 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of  financial  statements  in  conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make various estimates. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Subsequent Events 
 
Management has evaluated subsequent events  through  the date  that  the  financial statements were 
available  to  be  issued, March  28,  2022  and  determined  there were  no  events  that  occurred  that 
required disclosure.  
 
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements 
 
The  Governmental  Accounting  Standards  Board  (GASB)  has  issued  statements  that  will  become 
effective in future years. These statements are as follows: 
 
In  June 2017, GASB  issued Statement No. 87, Leases. The objective of  this Statement  is to better 
meet  the  information  needs  of  financial  statement  users  by  improving  accounting  and  financial 
reporting  for  leases  by  governments.  This  Statement  increases  the  usefulness  of  governments' 
financial  statements by  requiring  recognition of certain  lease assets and  liabilities  for  leases  that 
previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of 
resources  based  on  payment  provisions  of  the  contract.  It  establishes  a  single model  for  lease 
accounting based on  the  foundational principle  that  leases  are  financings of  the  right  to use  an 
underlying asset. Under this Statement, a  lessee  is required to recognize a  lease receivable and a 
deferred  inflow  of  resources,  thereby  enhancing  the  relevance  and  consistency  of  information 
about  governments'  leasing  activities.  The  requirements  of  this  Statement  are  effective  for 
reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2021.  
 



Panama City Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

‐ 13 ‐ 

 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements (Continued) 
 
In May 2020, GASB issued GASB Statement No. 95, Postponement of the Effective Dates of Certain 
Authoritative Guidance. The primary objective of  this Statement  is  to provide  temporary relief  to 
governments  and  other  stakeholders  in  light  of  the  COVID‐19  pandemic.  That  objective  is 
accomplished  by  postponing  the  effective  dates  of  certain  provisions  in  Statements  and 
Implementation Guides that first became effective or are scheduled to become effective for periods 
beginning after June 15, 2018, and later. 
 
The Bureau  is currently evaluating the requirements of the above statements and their  impact on 
its financial statements. 
 
 
NOTE 2: DETAILED NOTES 
 
Deposits and Investments 
 
As of September 30, 2021, $250,000 of the Bureau’s bank balance is covered by federal depository 
insurance (FDIC). Monies invested in amounts greater than the insurance coverage are secured by 
the  qualified  public  depositories  pledging  securities  with  the  State  Treasurer  in  such  amounts 
required by the Florida Security for Public Depositories Act. In the event of a default or insolvency 
of a qualified public depositor, the State Treasurer will implement procedures for payment of losses 
according to the validated claims of the Bureau pursuant to Section 280.08, Florida Statutes. 
 
Accounts Receivable and Due from Bay County 
 
The Bureau had the following accounts receivable, net, as of September 30, 2021: 
 
Accounts receivable 172,275$                  
Less:  allowance for doubtful accounts ‐                                  

Accounts receivable, net 172,275$                  

The accounts receivable is comprised primarily of amounts due from field rentals at the sports park. 
The Bureau has no unconditional promises receivable as of September 30, 2021. The Bureau has an 
amount due from Bay County of $1,503,138, as of September 30, 2021, for the amounts due under 
the contract for the year ending September 30, 2021. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Panama City Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

‐ 14 ‐ 

 
NOTE 2: DETAILED NOTES (Continued) 
 
Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets activity for the year ended September 30, 2021, was as follows: 
 

Balance  Balance 

September 30, 2020 Increases Decreases September 30, 2021

Capital assets, not being depreciated

Construction in progress 12,520$                         ‐$                    (12,520)$         ‐$                                  

Total capital assets, 

not being depreciated 12,520                           ‐                      (12,520)           ‐                                    

Capital assets, being depreciated

Building improvements ‐                                      8,201             ‐                        8,201                           

Equipment 140,001                         31,300           ‐                        171,301                      

Accumulated depreciation (36,237)                          (17,335)         ‐                        (53,572)                       

Total capital assets,

being depreciated, net 103,764                         22,166           ‐                        125,930                      

Total capital assets, net 116,284$                      22,166$         (12,520)$         125,930$                    

Depreciation expense of $17,335 was recorded during the year ended September 30, 2021. 
 
NOTE 3: ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY 

 
The  Bureau  is  primarily  funded  by  taxes  collected  by  the  Bay  County  Tourist Development  Bureau 
provided through a contract with the Bay County Board of Commissioners. If this contract were to be 
discontinued, it would have a material impact on the financial operations of the Bureau.  
 
NOTE 4: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The  Bureau  is  currently  located  in  facilities  owned  and maintained  by  the  Bay  County  Tourist 
Development Bureau of Bay County, Florida (TDC).  The Bureau has no outstanding balances due to 
the TDC as of September 30, 2021. The Bureau maintains a general  liability  insurance policy  that 
lists Bay County, Florida and City of Panama City Beach as additional insured parties. The Bureau is 
not charged for rent or utilities. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Panama City Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

‐ 15 ‐ 

 
NOTE 5: CONTINGENCY RESERVE 
 
The Bay County Board of County Commissioners maintains a contingency reserve  for the Bureau. 
The reserve is funded by all annual unappropriated cash carryforward amounts from tax revenues 
and any current year tax revenues approved for reservation. There is no maximum reserve amount. 
The reserve does have a required minimum balance of $1,000,000. This reserve may be accessed by 
the  Bureau  after  approval  of  the  Bay  County  Board  of  County  Commissioners.  Funds may  be 
withdrawn  in  the event of a disaster or unanticipated adverse circumstances,  to minimize deficit 
financing of capital projects, or  to address  the needs  from other unanticipated problems or  take 
advantage of unanticipated opportunities. As of September 30, 2021, the County’s reserve balance 
was $1,147,387. 
 
NOTE 6: OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS  
 
Plan Description 
 
The Bureau participates  in a plan established by Bay County (County). The Bureau established the 
Retirees’ Health  Insurance Other Postemployment Benefits  (OPEB) Plan  (Plan), a  single employer 
plan.  Pursuant  to  Section  112.0801  Florida  Statutes,  the  Bureau  is  required  to  provide  eligible 
retirees (as defined in the County’s pension plans) the opportunity to participate in this Plan at the 
same cost that  is applicable to active employees. The Bureau does not  issue stand‐alone financial 
statements for this Plan. All financial information related to the Bureau’s proportionate share of the 
Plan is accounted for in the Bureau’s basic financial statements. 
 
Funding Policy 
 
The Bureau is funding the post employee benefits on a pay‐as‐you‐go basis. Contribution rates for 
the Plan are established by County annually during the budget process. The Bureau does not pay for 
health  insurance premiums  for retirees. Blended premium rates  for active and retired employees 
combined  provide  an  implicit  subsidy  for  retirees  because  on  an  actual  basis,  their  current  and 
future claims are expected to result in higher costs to the Plan than those of active employees. The 
current year contributions are determined as annualized claims incurred based on the retiree age at 
the beginning of the  fiscal year and the claims table used  for  liability determination offset by the 
annual premium paid by  the  retiree  for  such  coverage. Bureau  contributions are assumed  to be 
equal to benefits paid. 
 
The monthly  contribution  rates  effective  for  eligible  Bureau  plan members  during  the  year  are 
shown below: 

                    Coverage     
Plan 3160/3161 
HAS/HDHP 

Retiree      $     611 
Retiree and Spouse          1,484 
 
 
 



Panama City Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

‐ 16 ‐ 

 
NOTE 6: OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued) 
 
Plan Membership 
 
The Bureau currently has twenty active members and three retirees. 
 
Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs 
 
In the September 30, 2021 reporting date, based on a September 30, 2020 measurement date and 
a September 30, 2019 valuation date the actuarial assumptions and other  inputs, applied  include 
the following: 
 
Inflation rate  2.20% 
Salary increases  3.25% Including inflation 
Discount rate  2.21% investment rate of return 
Retirees’ share of benefit‐related costs  100% of projected health insurance premium 
   

Prior to age 65 
 

Cost after age 65 
Initial healthcare trend rate  6.3%  5.5% 
Ultimate healthcare trend rate  3.7%  3.7% 
Years to ultimate healthcare trend rate  73  76 
 
The  discount  rate  was  selected  based  on  a  20‐year  tax‐exempt  high‐quality  general  obligation 
municipal bond yield of  index. The Bond Buyer 20‐Bond General Obligation  Index  is  the average 
rating of 20 bonds that are grade ‘Aa2’ (Moody’s) or grade ‘AA’ (S&P 500). The Bond Buyer 20‐Bond 
General Obligation Index at September 30, 2021 was 2.21%. The valuation used a 2.66% investment 
rate of  return. The 2.21%  investment  rate of  return assumption was used  for  the September 30, 
2020 measurement date as it is close to the index.  
 
Mortality  rates  were  based  on  separate  assumptions  for  employees,  healthy  annuitants,  and 
disabled  annuitants,  and  disabled  annuitants  based  on  Pub‐2010  General  Headcount‐Weighted 
Mortality tables projected generationally with mortality improvement scale MP2020. 
 
The actuarial assumptions used in the September 30, 2019 valuation were not based on the results 
of an actuarial experience study.  
 
 
Total OPEB Liability and Changes in the Total OPEB Plan Liability 
 
At September 30, 2021, the Bureau reported a total OPEB liability of $105,790. The information has 
been provided as of the September 30, 2021 reporting date.  
 
 
 
 
 



Panama City Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

‐ 17 ‐ 

 
NOTE 6: OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued) 
 
 

Total OPEB Plan Fiduciary Total OPEB

Liability Net Position Liability

(a) (b) (a) ‐ (b)

Balance as of October 1, 2020 96,606$                         ‐$                               96,606$           

Changes for the year

Service cost 7,788                             ‐                                 7,788                

Interest 2,538                             ‐                                 2,538                

Changes of assumptions 317                                ‐                                 317                   

Difference between expected and

actual experience                                       ‐  ‐                                 ‐                         

Contributions ‐ employer ‐                                      1,459                        (1,459)              

Benefit payments (1,459)                            (1,459)                       ‐                         

Net changes 9,184                             ‐                                 9,184                

Balance as of September 30, 2021 105,790$                      ‐$                               105,790$         

Increase (Decrease)

 
 
The methods, assumptions, and participant data used are detailed in the actuarial valuation report 
dated September 30, 2019. 
 
Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability 
 
The  following    table  represents  the  Bureau’s  total  and  net  OPEB  liability  calculated  using  the 
discount rate of 2.21%, as well as what the Bureau's net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated 
using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (1.21%) or 1 percentage point higher (3.21%) 
than the current rate. 
 
 

1% Decrease 
1.21% 

Discount Rate 
2.21% 

1% Increase 
3.21% 

       
Net OPEB liability  $   112,058  $    105,790  $   99,492 
 
 
The following  table represents the Bureau’s total and net OPEB liability calculated using the healthcare 
cost  trend  rates  of  3.7%  as well  as what  the  Bureau's  total  net OPEB  liability would  be  if  it were 
calculated using  trend  rates  that are 1 percentage point  lower  (2.7%) or 1 percentage point higher 
(4.7%) than the current trend rates. 
 
 



Panama City Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

‐ 18 ‐ 

 
NOTE 6: OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued) 
 
Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability (Continued) 
 
   

1% Decrease 
(2.7%) 

Ultimate Trend 
Rate 
(3.7%) 

 
1% Increase 

(4.7%) 

       
Net OPEB liability  $    92,954  $    105,790  $   121,172 
 
OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
OPEB  
 
For the year ended September 30, 2021, the Bureau recognized OPEB expense of $6,930. At September 
30,  2020,  the  Bureau  had  deferred  inflows  and  outflows  of  resources  related  to  OPEB  from  the 
following sources:  
 

Deferred Inflows Deferred Outflows

of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience (14,317)$                    1,593$                     

Changes of assumptions (122,208)                    296                           

Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date ‐                                   2,142                       

   Total (136,525)$                  4,031$                     

 
Deferred  outflows  of  resources  related  to  employer  contributions  paid  subsequent  to  the 
measurement date and prior to the employer’s fiscal year end will be recognized as a reduction of 
the  OPEB  liability  in  the  reporting  period  ending  September  30,  2022.  Amounts  reported  as 
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the OPEB plan will be 
recognized in the expense as follows: 
 
Year ending September 30:

2022 (15,254)$                 

2023 (15,254)                    

2024 (15,254)                    

2025 (15,254)                    

2026 (15,254)                    

Thereafter (58,366)                    

Total (134,636)$               

 
 
 



Panama City Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

‐ 19 ‐ 

NOTE 7: UNCERTAINTIES 
 
In March 2020,  the World Health Organization made  the assessment  that  the outbreak of the novel 
coronavirus (COVID‐19) can be characterized as a pandemic. As a result, uncertainties have arisen that 
may have a significant negative impact on the ongoing operating activities and the future results of the 
Bureau. The occurrence and extent of such an impact will depend on future developments, including (i) 
the  and  spread of  the  virus,  (ii)  government quarantine measures,  (iii)  voluntary  and precautionary 
restrictions on travel or meetings, (iv) the effects on the financial markets, and (v) the effects on the 
economy overall, all of which are uncertain as of March 28, 2022. 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
 



Panama City Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc.  
Required Other Postemployment Benefits Supplementary Information 

 Schedule of Changes in OPEB Liability and Related Ratios 
Last Four Fiscal Years* 

 

See independent auditors’ report 
‐ 20 ‐ 

September 30, 2021 2020 2019 2018

Total OPEB Liability

Service cost 7,788$           5,949$           18,002$        19,090$           

Interest 2,538             9,447             8,494             6,977                

Effect of economic/demographic gains or losses                      ‐           (17,402)              2,198                           ‐ 

Changes in assumptions 317                (129,405)       (11,512)                      (12,211)

Benefit (payments) refunds (1,459)            (877)               (7,149)            (8,058)               

Net change in OPEB liability           9,184     (132,288)        10,033                5,798 

Total OPEB liability ‐ beginning 96,606           228,894        218,861        213,063           

Total OPEB liability ‐ ending (a)  $     105,790   $       96,606   $     228,894   $         218,861 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Contributions ‐ employer 1,459$           877$              7,149$           8,058$              

Benefit payments/refunds            (1,459)               (877)            (7,149)                (8,058)

Net change in plan fiduciary net position ‐                      ‐                      ‐                      ‐                         

    Plan fiduciary net position ‐ beginning ‐                      ‐                      ‐                      ‐                         

    Plan fiduciary net position ‐ ending (b) ‐$                   ‐$                   ‐$                   ‐$                       

         Net OPEB liability ‐ ending (a) ‐ (b) 105,790$      96,606$        228,894$      218,861$         

Plan fiduciary net position as a

  percentage of the total OPEB liability 0% 0% 0% 0%

Covered‐employee payroll 1,383,068$   1,373,511$   1,373,953$   1,372,370$      

Net OPEB liability as a percentage of

  covered‐employee payroll 7.65% 7.03% 16.66% 15.95%

*GASB Codification P52 requires an employer to disclose a 10‐year history.  However, until a full 10‐
year trend is compiled, information will be presented only for those years for which information is 
available. There are no assets accumulated in a trust that meet the criteria of GASB codification 
P22.101 or P52.101 to pay related benefits for the OPEB plan. 
 
* The following discount rate was used in each period: 
9/30/18 – 3.64% 
9/30/19 – 4.18% 
9/30/20 – 2.66% 
9/30/21 – 2.21%



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COMPLIANCE REPORT 



Carr, Riggs & Ingram, LLC 14101 

Panama City Beach Parkway Suite 

200 

Panama City Beach, FL 32413 

(850) 784-6733

(850) 784-4866 (fax) 

www.cricpa.com 

‐ 21 ‐ 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND 
ON  COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS 
PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

Board of Directors 
Panama City Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. 
Panama City Beach, Florida 

We have audited,  in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted  in the United 
States  of America  and  the  standards  applicable  to  financial  audits  contained  in Government 
Auditing  Standards  issued  by  the  Comptroller  General  of  the  United  States,  the  financial 
statements  of  the  business‐type  activities  of  the  Panama  City  Beach  Convention  and  Visitors 
Bureau, Inc. (a nonprofit organization), a component unit of Bay County, Florida, as of and for the 
year ended September 30, 2021, and the related notes to financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the Panama City Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc.’s basic financial statements 
as listed in the table of contents, and have issued our report thereon dated March 28, 2022. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of  the  financial statements, we considered  the Panama 
City  Beach  Convention  and  Visitors  Bureau,  Inc.’s    internal  control  over  financial  reporting 
(internal  control)  as  a  basis  for  designing  audit  procedures  that  are  appropriate  in  the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not 
for  the  purpose  of  expressing  an  opinion  on  the  effectiveness  of  the  Panama  City  Beach 
Convention  and  Visitors  Bureau,  Inc.’s  internal  control.  Accordingly,  we  do  not  express  an 
opinion on  the effectiveness of  the Panama City Beach Convention and Visitors Bureau,  Inc.’s 
internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management  or  employees,  in  the  normal  course  of  performing  their  assigned  functions,  to 
prevent,  or  detect  and  correct, misstatements  on  a  timely  basis.  A material weakness  is  a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility  that  a  material  misstatement  of  the  entity’s  financial  statements  will  not  be 
prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, 
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, 
yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our  consideration  of  internal  control  was  for  the  limited  purpose  described  in  the  first 
paragraph of  this  section and was not designed  to  identify all deficiencies  in  internal control 
that  might  be  material  weaknesses  or,  significant  deficiencies  and  therefore,  material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that have not been identified.  We did identify 



‐ 22 ‐ 

certain deficiencies  in  internal control, described  in the accompanying schedule of  findings as 
item 2021‐001 and 2021‐002 that we consider to be material weaknesses. 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining  reasonable assurance about whether  the Panama City Beach Convention 
and  Visitors  Bureau,  Inc.’s  financial  statements  are  free  from  material  misstatement,  we 
performed  tests of  its  compliance with  certain provisions of  laws,  regulations, contracts, and 
grant agreements, noncompliance with which  could have a direct and material effect on  the 
financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was 
not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of 
our  tests  disclosed  no  instances  of  noncompliance  or  other matters  that  are  required  to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Bureau’s Responses to Findings 

The Bureau’s  responses  to  the  findings  identified  in our audit  is described  in  the accompanying 
schedule  of  findings.    The  Bureau’s  responses were  not  subjected  to  the  auditing  procedures 
applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on them. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of  this  report  is  solely  to describe  the  scope of our  testing of  internal  control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s  internal control or on compliance. This report  is an  integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards  in  considering  the entity’s  internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Certified Public Accountants 
Panama City Beach, Florida  
March 28, 2022 



Schedule of Findings 
Year Ended September 30, 2021 

‐ 23 ‐ 

 

2021‐001 Inadequate controls over cash collections at the Panama City Beach Sports Complex  
 
Condition:  Cash  collection  procedures  require  reports  generated  from  the  collection  system  to  be 
included as  support  to  reconcile  to deposit  information.   The  system generated  reports were being 
altered resulting in deposit information that was inaccurate.  In addition, cashier checkout sheets from 
the concession stands were not maintained which would also allow for reconciliation of deposits from 
the point of receipt.  
 
Criteria:  Reconciliation  of  deposits  should  be  compared  to  information  directly  from  the  collection 
system. Cash collection procedures should require proper documentation from the point of receipt to 
the deposit of the funds.  
 
Effect: The alteration of the system generated reports and the exclusion of proper support for deposits 
allowed theft of funds of approximately $37,000.   
 
Cause: There were improper controls over cash collections. 
 
Recommendation: The accounting  staff at  the  sports  complex  should be  trained on  the appropriate 
internal control procedures  in regards to collection of funds.   In addition, the Bureau should consider 
having  two  employees,  not  involved  in  cash  collections,  reconcile  checkout  sheets  and  reports 
generated from the collection system prior to funds being deposited in the bank account. 
 
Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Action: Panama City Beach CVB has established a 
training process for all cash handlers whereby whenever possible, no one employee is ever left alone to 
count their drawer or day’s work.  When staffing does not allow for at least 2 employees to be present 
the county area is secured and there is a camera video‐taping the process.  The general manager of the 
Sports Park and the VP of Administration of the CVB have access to this footage and live stream.  Daily 
revenue  reports  from  the  POS  system  are  generated  independent  of  the  cash  handling  to  ensure 
accuracy. 
 
2021‐002  Supporting  documentation,  primarily  for  cashier  checkout  sheets,  was  not  properly 
maintained 
 
Condition: Cashier checkout  sheets were  routinely not maintained.    In addition,  there were  isolated 
instances of other documents that were requested that were not able to be provided. 
 
Criteria: The Bureau should have proper record retention procedures. 
 
Effect:  Lack of  supporting documentation  could  result  in  improper use of  funds  and/or  inability  for 
controls to perform as intended. 
 
Cause: Improper record retention procedures and/or lack of oversight to ensure records were properly 
maintained. 
 
Recommendation:  Proper  record  retention  procedures  should  be  established  and  properly 
communicated to staff.   



Schedule of Findings (Continued 
Year Ended September 30, 2021 

‐ 24 ‐ 

 
Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Action: Panama City Beach CVB has  instructed 
staff  on  proper  records  retention  policies  in  accordance  with  Florida  Statutes.    Periodic  audits 
throughout  the  year  will  be  made  by  the  Vice  President  of  Administration  to  ensure  adequate 
documentation is maintained in accordance with policy. 
 

 



RESOLUTION NO. ______ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BAY COUNTY BOARD OF 
COUNTY COMMISSIONERS, BAY COUNTY, 
FLORIDA, REQUESTING A BEACH MANAGEMENT 
PROGRAM GRANT FROM THE FLORIDA 
DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
BEACH MANAGEMENT FUNDING ASSISTANCE 
PROGRAM FOR FISCAL YEAR 2023/2024 FOR THE 
MEXICO BEACH SHORELINE RESTORATION 
PROJECT. 

WHEREAS, Hurricane Michael made landfall on Mexico Beach as a Category 5 
storm on October 10th, 2018, causing catastrophic upland damage to structures and 
infrastructure, as well as extensive erosion to the beach and dune system;  

WHEREAS, prior to Hurricane Michael, the Mexico Beach Community 
Development Council had identified beach preservation and beach restoration as a priority 
due to the Mexico Beach shoreline being severely eroded, providing diminished storm 
protection and reduced recreation area, and impacting the tourism-based-economy; and 

WHEREAS, in 2017, the Mexico Beach CDC fully funded an update to the 2008 
Mexico Beach feasibility study which included updating shoreline conditions, evaluating 
methods to increase the effectiveness and efficiency of inlet sand bypassing as well as cost-
effectively place sand in the area of need; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Mexico Beach advanced the recommendations from the 
CDC funded study and was nearly complete with design and permitting for a truck haul 
sand bypass project when Hurricane Michael made landfall in October 2018; and  

WHEREAS, Bay County has identified beach preservation, and beach 
renourishment as a priority to the County to include Mexico Beach; and 

WHEREAS, immediately following Hurricane Michael, the Bay County Tourist 
Development Council and Bay County recognized the need to move forward immediately 
with design, permitting, and an offshore sand search investigation necessary to develop a 
beach restoration project to address the damages caused by Hurricane Michael and 
identified a local funding source to begin this work; and  

WHEREAS, the Florida Department of Environmental Protection is the beach and 
shore preservation authority for the State and supervises the Beach Management and 
Funding Assistance Program; and 

WHEREAS, the Florida Department of Environmental Protection also recognized 
the need to move forward immediately with design, permitting, and an offshore sand search 



investigation necessary to develop a beach restoration project to address the damages 
caused by Hurricane Michael and provided 50/50 state cost-sharing for this work; and  

WHEREAS, the offshore sand source investigation work is complete, the state 
permit has been issued, and the federal permit process is nearly complete; and  

 WHEREAS, Bay County has determined that funds provided through the Beach 
Management and Funding Assistance Program are critical for a full-scale restoration and 
subsequent monitoring of the Mexico Beach shoreline. 

WHEREAS, Bay County requests continued support of its existing Grant 
Agreements, and new State funding assistance via an amended or new grant agreement, 
whichever is necessary, with the Florida Department of Environmental Protection; and 
supports the Department’s beach and coastal management programs; and 

NOW, Therefore, Be It Resolved by the Board of County Commissioners of Bay 
County, Florida as follows: 

Section 1.  The County Commission hereby determines that it is in the best interest 
of Bay County to request continued support of its existing Grant Agreements and new State 
funding assistance via amended or new grant agreement(s) pursuant to Florida Statute 
161.091, for the Mexico Beach Shoreline Restoration Project through the Florida 
Department of Environmental Protection. Said funding to be used to plan for, permit, 
design, construct, and monitor a full-scale beach restoration project at Mexico Beach. 

Section 2.  The Board of County Commissioners hereby determines that it is in the 
best interest of Bay County to renew its support for all funds previously approved for the 
Mexico Beach Shoreline Restoration Project, said funding was used for design and 
permitting, and will be used for construction and monitoring of the project per permit 
requirements. 

Section 3.  The Board of County Commissioners hereby determines that the local 
funding share to implement the project has been and will be provided through the Bay 
County Tourist Development Council and Mexico Beach Community Development 
Council representing the County as the local taxing authority, as well as funding provided 
by the City of Mexico Beach. 

Section 4.  The Chairman of the Board of County Commissioners, or his designee, 
is hereby authorized to execute the funding application, enter into such agreements as are 
required to secure available funding and to otherwise act on behalf of Bay County in all 
matters related to the securing of available grant funding from the Beach Management and 
Funding Assistance Program for Fiscal Year 2023/2024. 

Section 5.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 



Done and adopted by the Board of County Commissioners of Bay County, Florida this 
_______day of ____________2022.  

______________________________ 
Robert Carroll, Chairman 

ATTEST: 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 
__________________________  AND LEGAL SUFFICIENCY: 
Bill Kinsaul, Clerk 

_________________________________ 
Office of County Attorney 



RESOLUTION NO. ______ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BAY COUNTY BOARD OF 
COUNTY COMMISSIONERS, BAY COUNTY, 
FLORIDA, REQUESTING A CONTINUATION OF THE 
BEACH MANAGEMENT PROGRAM GRANT FROM 
THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION BEACH MANAGEMENT AND 
FUNDING ASSISTANCE PROGRAM FOR FISCAL 
YEAR 2023/2024 FOR THE PANAMA CITY BEACHES 
EROSION CONTROL PROJECT. 

WHEREAS, prior to the initial beach restoration project in 1998/99, the Panama 
City Beaches were severely eroded, providing diminished storm protection and reduced 
recreation area, impacting the tourism-based-economy; and 

WHEREAS, Bay County has identified beach preservation, and beach 
renourishment as a priority to the County; and 

WHEREAS, Bay County has developed a Long Range Beach Management and 
Erosion Control Plan for the Panama City Beaches to address the issues of beach 
preservation, and beach renourishment; and will serve as the local sponsor; and 

WHEREAS, the Florida Department of Environmental Protection is the beach and 
shore preservation authority for the State and supervises the Beach Management and 
Funding Assistance Program; and 

WHEREAS, the third renourishment project of the Panama City Beach project area 
was constructed locally by Bay County in May 2017 and Bay County planned to continue 
monitoring the project and maintaining the project with periodic renourishment; and 

WHEREAS, Hurricane Michael made landfall as a Category 5 storm just east of 
Panama City Beach on Mexico Beach on October 10th, 2018, causing storm erosion to the 
beach; and 

WHEREAS, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers preliminary Project Information 
Report regarding Hurricane Michael produced a positive project construction benefit-to-
cost ratio, which was approved by the Division Engineer on July 6th, 2019; and  

WHEREAS, Hurricane Sally made landfall as a Category 2 storm just west of 
Panama City Beach near Gulf Shores, Alabama on September 16th, 2020, causing 
additional storm erosion to the beach; and 

WHEREAS, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers analysis supported adjusting the 
planned Hurricane Michael construction volume to account for the additional Hurricane 
Sally volume loss; and  



WHEREAS, the fourth renourishment project of the Panama City Beach project 
area was constructed by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers in 2021-2022, which replaced 
the losses associated with Hurricane Michael and Hurricane Sally, as well as brought the 
project back to full project design;   

WHEREAS, the erosion at St. Andrews State Park, immediately adjacent to the 
federal Panama City Beaches renourishment project area, is at a critical level with limited 
beach berm width and severe scarping at the dune resulting in dangerous cliffs; and 

WHEREAS, a full restoration of the St. Andrews State Park has become critically 
necessary and Bay County is willing to serve as the local sponsor through its representative, 
the Bay County Tourist Development Council; and  

WHEREAS, construction of a beach restoration at St. Andrews State Park is being 
planned to take advantage of the 2021-2022 U.S. Army Corps of Engineers led 
renourishment of the adjacent Panama City Beach project area contracting process; and  

WHEREAS, Bay County has determined that funds provided through the Beach 
Management and Funding Assistance Program would greatly assist and expedite the repair 
and subsequent monitoring of the Panama City Beaches to include the U.S. Army Corps 
of Engineers federal Panama City Beaches renourishment and St. Andrews State Park 
restoration projects. 

WHEREAS, Bay County requests continued support of its existing Grant 
Agreements, and new State funding assistance via an amended or new grant agreement, 
whichever is necessary, with the Florida Department of Environmental Protection; and 
supports the Department’s beach and coastal management programs; and 

NOW, Therefore, Be It Resolved by the Board of County Commissioners of Bay 
County, Florida as follows: 

Section 1.  The County Commission hereby determines that it is in the best interest 
of Bay County to request continued support of its existing Grant Agreements and new State 
funding assistance via amended or new grant agreement(s) pursuant to Florida Statute 
161.091, for the Panama City Beaches Erosion Control Project through the Florida 
Department of Environmental Protection. Said funding to be used to plan for, permit, 
design, construct, and monitor future renourishment for the Panama City Beaches Erosion 
Control Project and St. Andrews State Park. 

Section 2.  The Board of County Commissioners hereby determines that it is in the 
best interest of Bay County to renew its support for all funds previously approved for the 
Panama City Beaches Erosion Control Project, said funding was used for design, 
permitting, construction, monitoring and maintaining the Panama City Beaches Erosion 
Control Project and St. Andrews State Park per permit requirements. 



Section 3.  The Board of County Commissioners hereby determines that the local 
funding share to implement the project has been and will be provided through the Bay 
County Tourist Development Council representing the County as the local taxing authority. 

Section 4.  The Chairman of the Board of County Commissioners, or his designee, 
is hereby authorized to execute the funding application, enter into such agreements as are 
required to secure available funding and to otherwise act on behalf of Bay County in all 
matters related to the securing of available grant funding from the Beach Management and 
Funding Assistance Program for Fiscal Year 2023/2024. 

Section 5.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 

Done and adopted by the Board of County Commissioners of Bay County, Florida this 
_______day of ____________2022.  

______________________________ 
Robert Carroll, Chairman 

ATTEST: 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 
__________________________  AND LEGAL SUFFICIENCY: 
Bill Kinsaul, Clerk 

_________________________________ 
Office of County Attorney 


